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MUNICIPAL COURT OF THE CITY OF HENDERSON

CRIMINAL cli'51PÜi1Ni3 P Lt: Ü I

IN THE COUNTY OF CLARK, STATE OF NEVADA

CITY OF HENDERSON, NEVADA,

,..,.., .• r
....

-";t :·

vs.

NATHAN NOAH OHM,

Plaintiff,

Defendant.

CASE NO' :

..
-

:. ,\·,,,;f.,

couNT 1
-

1ecR0622?1·(PéN·-irPf?/'.
COUNT 2 - 19CR002298 (PCN 2)·· .-.?

Nicholas G. Vaskov, Esq., City Attorney

The defendant has committed the crimes of:
BATTERY CONSTITUTING DOMESTIC VIOLENCE (Misdemeanor - NRS 200.481(1)(a),
200.485(1 )(a), 33.018, Henderson City Charter, Section 2.140) within the City of Henderson, in

the County of Clark, State of Nevada, in the manner following, that the said defendant, on or
about February 22, 2019:

COUNT 1 - BATTERY CONSTITUTING DOMESTIC VIOLENCE
did willfully and unlawfully use force or violence against or upon the person of his spouse,

former spouse, any other person to whom he is related by blood or marriage, a person with
whom he has had or is having a dating relationship, a person with whom he has a child in

common, the minor child of any of those persons or his minor child, to-wit: Did strike
Hailey Schmidt about the face and/or did get on top of her, all of which occurred in the area of

3044 Paseo Hills Way.

COUNT 2 - BATTERY CONSTITUTING DOMESTIC VIOLENCE
did willfully and unlawfully use force or violence against or upon the person of his spouse,

former spouse, any other person to whom he is related by blood or marriage, a person with
whom he has had or is having a dating relationship, a person with whom he has a child in

common, the minor child of any of those persons or his minor child, to-wit: Did strike and/or did
punch Marcuse Ohm one or more times, all of which occurred in the area of 3044 Paseo Hills

Way.

All of which is contrary to the form, force and effect of statutes in such cases made and provided
and against the peace and dignity of the City of Henderson, State of Nevada. Said Complainant
makes this declaration on information and beli ubject to the A nalty of perjury.

(c

Dated: February 28, 2019
CAO File #: 021466
PCN#: NVHP5127178C
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MUNICIPAL COURT OF THE CITY OF HENDERSON

IN THE COUNTY OF CLARK, STATE OF NEVADA

CITY OF HENDERSON, NEVADA,

Plaintiff,

vs.

NATHAN NOAH OHM,

Defendant.

,?'.f'> ,..,.,,•,,·, 'I") e"") '· ":'10A1AENCiErf ¡ . .) .)

CRIMINAL COMPLAINT·

CASE NO.?
COUNT 1

- 19CR002297 (PCN 1)
COUNT 2 - 19CR002298 (PCN 2)

Nicholas G. Vaskov, Esq., City Attorney

The defendant has committed the crimes of:
BATTERY CONSTITUTING DOMESTIC VIOLENCE (Misdemeanor - Henderson
Municipal Code 8.02.055) within the City of Henderson, in the County of Clark, State of
Nevada, in the manner following, that the said defendant, on or about February 22, 2019:

COUNT 1
- BATTERY CONSTITUTING DOMESTIC VIOLENCE

did willfully and unlawfully use force or violence against or upon the person's spouse,
former spouse, any other person to whom the person is related by blood or marriage, any
person with whom the person has had or is having a dating relationship, any person with
whom the person has a child in common, the minor child of any of those persons or his
minor child or any other person who has been appointed the custodian or legal guardian
for the person's minor child, to-wit: Did strike Hailey Schmidt about the face and/or did
get on top of her, all of which occurred in the area of 3044 Paseo Hills Way.

COUNT 2- BATTERY CONSTITUTING DOMESTIC VIOLENCE
did willfully and unlawfully use force or violence against or upon the person's spouse,

former spouse, any other person to whom the person is related by blood or marriage, any
person with whom the person has had or is having a dating relationship, any person with
whom the person has a child in common, the minor child of any of those persons or his
minor child or any other person who has been appointed the custodian or legal guardian
for the person's minor child, to-wit: Did strike and/or did punch Marcuse Ohm one or more
times, all of which occurred in the area of 3044 Paseo Hills Way.

Brian K. Reardon, Êsq.
Assistant City Attorney

All of which is contrary to the form, force and effect of statutes in such cases made and
provided and against the peace and dignity of the City of Henderson, State of Nevada.
Said Complainant makes this declaration on information and belief subject to the penalty
of perjury.

?.?Dated: October 21, 2019
CAO File #: 021466
PCN#: NVHP5127178C
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Henderson Statutory Text 

8.02.050 - Battery.  

A person who willfully and unlawfully uses force or violence upon the person of another is 

guilty of battery.  

(Ord. No. 3451 , § 1, 11-7-2017) 

8.02.055 - Battery constituting domestic violence.  

A.  Any person who commits an offense of battery as defined in section 8.02.050 against or 

upon the person's spouse or former spouse, any other person to whom the person is related 

by blood or marriage, any other person with whom the person has had or is having a dating 

relationship, any other person with whom the person has a child in common, the minor child 

of any of those persons, the person's minor child or any other person who has been 

appointed the custodian or legal guardian for the person's minor child is guilty of a battery 

constituting domestic violence.  

B.  The provisions of this section do not apply to:  

1.  Siblings, except those siblings who are in a custodial or guardianship relationship with 

each other; or  

2.  Cousins, except those cousins who are in a custodial or guardianship relationship with 

each other.  

C.  As used in this section, "dating relationship" means frequent, intimate associations 

primarily characterized by the expectation of affectional or sexual involvement. The term 

does not include a casual relationship or an ordinary association between persons in a 

business or social context.  

D.  A person convicted of a battery constituting domestic violence:  

1.  For the first offense within seven years, is guilty of a misdemeanor and shall be 

sentenced to:  

(a)  Imprisonment in the city jail or detention facility for not less than two days, but 

not more than six months;  

(b)  Perform not less than 48 hours, but not more than 120 hours, of community 

service;  

(c)  A fine of not less than $200.00, but not more than $1,000.00; and  

(d)  Participate in weekly counseling sessions of not less than one and one-half hours 

per week for not less than six months, but not more than 12 months, at his or her 

expense, in a program for the treatment of persons who commit domestic violence 

that has been certified pursuant to NRS 439.258.  

2.  For the second offense within seven years, is guilty of a misdemeanor and shall be 

sentenced to:  
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(a)  Imprisonment in the city jail or detention facility for not less than ten days, but 

not more than six months;  

(b)  Perform not less than 100 hours, but not more than 200 hours, of community 

service;  

(c)  Pay a fine of not less than $500.00, but not more than $1,000.00; and  

(d)  Participate in weekly counseling sessions of not less than one and one-half hours 

per week for 12 months, at his or her expense, in a program for the treatment of 

persons who commit domestic violence that has been certified pursuant to NRS 

439.258.  

E.  A person arrested for a battery constituting domestic violence pursuant to this section must 

not be admitted to bail sooner than 12 hours after arrest.  

(Ord. No. 3632 , § 2, 10-15-2019)  
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United States v. Enick, Not Reported in Fed. Supp. (2017)

 © 2019 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 1

2017 WL 2531943
Only the Westlaw citation is currently available.

United States District Court, D. Idaho.

UNITED STATES of America, Plaintiff,
v.

Samuel Jay ENICK, Defendant.

Case No. 2:17-cr-00013-BLW
|

Signed 06/09/2017

Attorneys and Law Firms

Nancy D. Cook, US Attorney's Office, Coeur D'Alene, ID,
for Plaintiff.

North Federal Defender, Federal Defenders of Eastern
Washington & Idaho Spokane Office, Spokane, WA, for
Defendant.

MEMORANDUM DECISION AND ORDER

B. Lynn Winmill, Chief Judge

INTRODUCTION

*1  Before the Court is Defendant's Motion to Dismiss. (Dkt.
18). The matter is fully briefed and the Court finds that the
decisional process would not be aided by oral argument. For
the reasons set forth below, the Court will grant the Motion
to Dismiss.

BACKGROUND

Samuel Jay Enick has been charged with one count of
unlawful possession of a firearm and ammunition in violation
of 18 U.S.C. § 922(g)(9) and one count of criminal forfeiture
under 18 U.S.C. § 924(d) and 28 U.S.C. § 2461(c) (Dkt.
1). The indictment alleges that Enick unlawfully possessed
firearms and ammunition despite having been previously
convicted of a violent misdemeanor involving domestic
violence which disqualified him from such ownership. His
prior conviction was a misdemeanor assault charge under
Spokane Municipal Code (“SMC”) Section 10.11.010 (Dkt.
18). The Government asserts that the assault misdemeanor is

the type of crime which operates as a predicate offense under
18 U.S.C. § 922(g)(9). Enick contends that it does not.

ANALYSIS

Section 922(g)(9) provides that it is unlawful for any person
“who has been convicted in any court of a misdemeanor crime
of domestic violence ... [to] possess in or affecting commerce,
any firearm or ammunition[.]” 18 U.S.C. § 922(g)(9) (2012).
A “misdemeanor crime of domestic violence” is defined as,

an offense that—(i) is a misdemeanor
under Federal, State or Tribal law;
and (ii) has, as an element, the use
or attempted use of physical force, or
threatened use of a deadly weapon,
committed by a current or former
spouse, parent, or guardian of the
victim, by a person with whom the
victim shares a child in common, by a
person who is cohabiting with or has
cohabited with the victim as a spouse,
parent, or guardian, or by a person
similarly situated to a spouse, parent,
or guardian of the victim.

18 U.S.C. § 921(a)(33)(A) (2012). Therefore, to qualify
as a predicate offense a “misdemeanor crime of domestic
violence” must have, “as an element, the use or attempted use
of physical force, or threatened use of a deadly weapon.” U.S.
v.Hayes, 555 U.S. 415, 421 (2009). In addition, the Supreme
Court has held that § 922(g)(9)'s “physical force” requirement
is satisfied “by the degree of force that supports a common-
law battery conviction.” U.S. v. Castleman, 134 S. Ct. 1405,
1413 (2014).

The question here is whether Enick's prior conviction under
SMC § 10.11.010 qualifies as a predicate offense under §
922(g)(9). Enick argues that, because SMC § 10.11.010 is
a local law and not a “Federal, State, or Tribal law,” SMC
§ 10.11.010 cannot be a predicate offense under § 922(g)
(9). (Dkts. 18, 26). Enick also contends that neither the
categorical approach nor the modified categorical approach
qualify his prior conviction as a predicate offense because
SMC § 10.11.010 is overbroad and indivisible. (Dkts. 18, 26).
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United States v. Enick, Not Reported in Fed. Supp. (2017)

 © 2019 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 2

1. Municipal Ordinance Conviction as Predicate Offense
The Court finds that a municipal ordinance does not fit
within the definition of a “misdemeanor crime of domestic
violence.” Rather, it appears that Congress purposefully
excluded local law from that definition. Specifically, a
“misdemeanor crime of domestic violence” only includes “an
offense that—(i) is a misdemeanor under Federal, State or
Tribal law[.]” 18 U.S.C. § 921(a)(33)(A).

A. Concurrent Jurisdiction
*2  Although the Government originally argued to the

contrary, the parties now agree that the defendant can be
convicted in any court for § 922(g)(9) to apply. The Court
concurs. Thus, § 922(g)(9) may apply where a defendant
is convicted in Spokane Municipal Court as Enick was
here. However, that conviction in municipal court must be a
misdemeanor under “Federal, State, or Tribal law.” Under the
plain language of § 921 and § 922(g)(9), a conviction under
a municipal ordinance cannot serve as a predicate offense for
the purposes of § 922(g)(9).

B. Congressional Intent
In statutory construction, “our starting point is the plain
language of the statute.” U.S. v. Williams, 659 F.3d 1223,
1225 (9th Cir. 2011) (citing Children's Hosp. & Health Ctr.
v. Belshe, 188 F.3d 1090, 1096 (9th Cir. 1999)). If the
“plain meaning of the statute is unambiguous, that meaning is
controlling,” and courts do not look to the legislative history
to determine if Congress meant something else. Williams, 659
F.3d at 1096.

The Court finds that the statute's language is unambiguous,
clearly providing that only a violation of “Federal, State,
or Tribal law” can constitute a predicate offense for a
prosecution under 18 U.S.C. § 922(g)(9). But, even if the
Court were to find the statute ambiguous and could consider
Congressional intent, the legislative history strongly suggests
that Congress purposefully excluded local law from the list
of predicate offenses. Prior to amending § 921 in 2006,
the relevant language mentioned only federal and state law.
18 U.S.C. § 921(a)(33)(A)(i) (amended 2006). The 2006
amendment added tribal law to the list of available substantive
law. See generally Violence Against Women Act, Pub. L. No.
109-162, § 908, 119 Stat. 2960 (2006). The same amendment
also distinguished “local law” in dozens of other portions
of § 921, but not § 921(a)(33)(A)(i). Id. The statutory
interpretation canon, expressio unius est exclusio alterius,

“the expression of one thing is the exclusion of another,”
justifies an “inference that items not mentioned were excluded
by deliberate choice, not inadvertence.” Barnhart v. Peabody
Coal Co., 537 U.S. 149, 168 (2003). Therefore, the Court
concludes that it was Congress's intent to exclude local
laws from the “misdemeanor crime of domestic violence”
definition.

2. Categorical Approach

A. Overbroad
Even if the Court were to find that convictions under a
municipal code fit within the definition of § 921(a)(33)(A)
(i), the predicate offense would not be a categorical match.
To determine whether Enick's prior conviction qualifies as
“misdemeanor crime of domestic violence,” the Court applies
the “categorical approach” set forth in Taylor v. U.S., 495 U.S.
575, 599 (1990). To evaluate the predicate offense under the
categorical approach, the Court must compare the elements
of the statute forming the basis of the defendant's conviction
with the elements of the “generic” crime. Decamps v. U.S.,
133 S Ct. 2276, 2283 (2013). Thus, if the elements of the SMC
§ 10.11.010 are the same or narrower than the elements in §
921(a)(33)(A)(ii) then Enick's prior conviction would serve
as a predicate offense for the § 922(g)(9) charge. However,
if SMC § 10.11.010 is broader than the elements in § 921(a)
(33)(A)(ii), then the conviction does not categorically qualify
as a predicate offense.

SMC § 10.11.010 clearly prohibits more conduct than the
federal definition of a “misdemeanor crime of domestic
violence. The ordinance states, “[n]o person may willfully
use or threaten to use by purposeful words or acts unlawful
physical force against the person of another.” SPOKANE,
WASH., CODE § 10.11.010. It thus criminalizes the mere
threat of use of physical force. In contrast, the federal statute
only criminalizes one type of threat: threat with a deadly
weapon. 18 U.S.C. § 921(a)(33)(A)(ii). And both parties
appear to agree that Enick's prior conviction does not qualify
as a predicate offense under the categorical approach because
it is overbroad. (Dkt. 18 at 11, 26 at 15) (Dkt. 22 at 5). The
Court agrees.

B. Indivisible
*3  Even if the underlying offense is overbroad, it may

still be considered as a predicate offense under the modified
categorical approach. This approach is appropriate where
the prior conviction is for violating a “divisible” statute.
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Decamps, 133 S. Ct. at 1413. A divisible statute is a
statute that “sets out one or more elements of the offense
in the alternative.” Id. A statute is considered divisible if
“it contains multiple alternative elements, as opposed to
multiple alternative means.” Rendon v. Holder, 764 F.3d
1077, 1084-85 (2014). However, a disjunctive (that is, with
an “or”) statute is not immediately considered a divisible
statute. Id. at 1086. Rather, a disjunctive statute is divisible
“[o]nly when state law requires that in order to convict
the defendant the jury must unanimously agree that he
committed a particular substantive offense contained within
the disjunctively worded statute....” Id.

Here, SMC § 10.11.010 is a disjunctive statute because
it contains “or”, suggesting that the ordinance can be
broken into three sub-offenses: (1) using physical force, (2)
attempting to use physical force, or (3) threatening to use
physical force. However, the statute is only divisible if jury
unanimity is required as to which part of the offense the
defendant committed. Rendon, 764 F.3d at 1086. Fortunately,
the Washington appellate courts have provided a clear answer,
holding that jury unanimity is not required for a conviction
under SMC § 10.11.010. City of Spokane v. White, 102 Wn.
App. 955, 965 (2000). Because SMC § 10.11.010 does not

require juror unanimity, it is indivisible and the conviction
cannot qualify under the modified categorical approach.

Because SMC § 10.11.010 is a local law and not a “State,
Federal, or Tribal law” and because SMC § 10.11.010 is
overbroad and indivisible, it does not qualify as a predicate
offense for the § 922(g)(9) charge. The Court will therefore
grant the Motion to Dismiss.

ORDER

IT IS ORDERED:

1. Defendant's Motion to dismiss (Dkt. 18) is GRANTED.

2. Defendant's Motion to Suppress (Dkt. 19) is DEEMED
MOOT.

3. The June 19, 2017 hearing is VACATED.

All Citations

Not Reported in Fed. Supp., 2017 WL 2531943

End of Document © 2019 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works.
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UNITED STATES of America, Plaintiff,
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for Plaintiff.

ORDER

MIRANDA M. DU, UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE

I. SUMMARY
*1  Defendant Andre Wagner was indicted on one count of

possession of ammunition by a prohibited person in violation
of 18 U.S.C. §§ 922(g)(1) and 924(a)(2). (ECF No. 17 at
2.) Wagner moves to dismiss the Superseding Indictment,
contending that his prior misdemeanor conviction under Reno
Municipal Code does not qualify as a predicate offense to
make him a “prohibited person” under the relevant statute.
The Court has reviewed Wagner’s motion to dismiss, the
government’s response and Wagner’s reply. (ECF Nos. 35, 37,
38.) The Court agrees with Wagner and grants his motion.

II. BACKGROUND
Count Two of the Superseding Indictment charges Wagner
with possession of ammunition by a prohibited person.
(ECF No. 17 at 2.) The Superseding Indictment alleges that
Wagner knowingly possessed ammunition after “having been
convicted of a misdemeanor crime of domestic violence
in the Reno Municipal Court, Reno, Nevada, on or about
September 22, 2016[.]” (Id.) The criminal complaint filed in
Reno Municipal Court charged Wagner with domestic battery
in violation of NRS §§ 200.481 and 33.018. (ECF No. 35–
1.) On September 22, 2016, Wagner pled nolo contendre
to the lesser offense of simple battery in violation of Reno
Municipal Code § 8.08.020A. (ECF No. 35–2 at 4.)

III. DISCUSSION
Wagner raises three arguments in seeking dismissal. The
first two arguments relate to the predicate offense. Wagner
insists that he was not convicted of the predicate offense of
“misdemeanor crime of domestic violence” as required under
18 U.S.C. § 922(g)(9) (“section 922(g)(9)” or “§ 922(g)(9)”)
because he was convicted of a misdemeanor under municipal
law, not state law, and because the Indictment fails to plead
the required elements of the predicated offense of domestic
battery. (ECF No. 35 at 5–10.) His third argument challenges
the constitutionality of the statute as applied. (Id. at 10–13.)
Because the Court agrees with Wagner that conviction of
a simple misdemeanor under municipal law does not meet
the requirement for the predicate offense under 18 U.S.C.
§ 921(a)(33)(A) (“section 921(a)(33)(A)” or “§ 921(a)(33)
(A)”), the Court declines to address the latter two arguments.

Section 922(g)(9) provides, in pertinent part, that it is
“unlawful for any person ... who has been convicted in
any court of a misdemeanor crime of domestic violence [ ]
to ... possess ... ammunition.” 18 U.S.C. § 922(g)(9). Section
921(a)(33)(A) in turn defines the term “misdemeanor crime
of domestic violence” to mean an offense that—

(i) is a misdemeanor under Federal, State, or Tribal law; and

(ii) has, as an element, the use or attempted use of physical
force, or the threatened use of a deadly weapon, committed
by a current or former spouse, parent, or guardian of the
victim, by a person with whom the victim shares a child
in common, by a person who is cohabiting with or has
cohabited with the victim as a spouse, parent, or guardian,
or by a person similarly situated to a spouse, parent, or
guardian of the victim.

18 U.S.C. § 921(a)(33)(A). Wagner argues that the plain
meaning of “State law” found at section 921(a)(33)(A)(i)
means state law while the government argues that the term
includes local laws.

*2  “The starting point for [the court’s] interpretation of a
statute is always its language.” United States v. Olander, 572
F.3d 764, 768 (9th Cir. 2009) (quoting Tahara v. Matson
Terminals, Inc., 511 F.3d 950, 953 (9th Cir. 2007)). The
“first step in interpreting a statute is to determine whether
the language at issue has a plain and unambiguous meaning
with regard to the particular dispute in the case.” Robinson v.
Shell Oil Co., 519 U.S. 337, 340 (1997). “The plainness or
ambiguity of statutory language is determined by reference to
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the language itself, the specific context in which that language
is used, and the broader context of the statute as a whole.” Id.
at 341.

The plain and unambiguous language of section 921(a)
(33)(A) supports Wagner’s argument that a misdemeanor
conviction under municipal law does not constitute a
predicate offense for violation of section 922(g)(9). Section
921(a)(33)(A)(i) covers a misdemeanor under three specific
categories of substantive laws: “Federal, State and Tribal
law.” The statute clearly and plainly does not cover a
misdemeanor conviction under municipal or local law. In this
respect, the Court agrees with two other courts that have
similarly construed § 921(a)(33)(A)(i) to exclude municipal
ordinances. See United States v. Enick, Case No. 2:17–cr–
00013–BLW, 2017 WL 2531943, at *2 (D. Idaho June 9,
2017) (finding that 18 U.S.C. § 921(a)(33)(A) is unambiguous
in “providing that only a violation of ‘Federal, State, or
Tribal law’ can constitute a predicate offense for a prosecution
under 18 U.S.C. § 922(g)(9)” and that the statute does not
include a conviction for misdemeanor assault charge under
Spokane Municipal Code); United States v. Pauler, 857 F.3d
1073, 1078 (10th Cir. 2017) (interpreting 933(a)(33) to “not
include a violation of a municipal ordinance” and rejecting the
government’s argument that “State” should be read to mean
“state and local”).

The government argues that a misdemeanor conviction in
a municipal court is the equivalent of a misdemeanor
conviction under state law. As support, the government relies
on NRS § 1.010’s inclusion of municipal courts as a “court of
justice” for the State and NRS § 268.018’s grant of authority
to an incorporated city to treat a misdemeanor under state
law as a misdemeanor under city ordinance. (ECF No. 37
at 2–3.) However, the government’s focus on the court of
conviction is misplaced because the court of conviction is
of no import. Section 922(g)(9) covers a conviction “in any
court of a misdemeanor crime of domestic violence.” There
is no dispute that the Reno Municipal Court has jurisdiction
over the matter. In fact, the complaint filed in Reno Municipal
Court charged Wagner with a misdemeanor under NRS §
200.481 and NRS § 33.018 as adopted by § 1.04.015 of
the Reno Municipal Code. Just because the Reno Municipal
Court could have convicted Wagner of a misdemeanor in
violation of state law does not render all convictions by
the same court convictions under state law. Nor does the
municipal court’s status as a “court of justice” for the state
make a municipal court conviction under municipal law a
conviction under state law. The Court agrees with Wagner that

“[t]he relevant question ... is what body of law a court’s order
construes, not what type of court is construing it.” (ECF No.
38 at 2.)

As to the government’s argument that the city may treat
a misdemeanor under state law as a misdemeanor under
city ordinance, such grant of authority does not turn a
misdemeanor under the municipal code into a misdemeanor
under state law. While NRS § 268.018 gives a municipality
the authority to treat a misdemeanor under state law as a
misdemeanor under city ordinance, the government cites to no
Nevada statute that incorporates municipal ordinances as state
law. As Wagner aptly points out, the Reno Municipal Code
enumerates its own set of laws that criminalizes some conduct
that are not covered under the Nevada Revised Statutes. (ECF
No. 38 at 3.)

*3  Despite the statute’s plain meaning, the government
argues that constructing state law to include local laws (i.e.,
municipal ordinances) is consistent with Congress’s intent in
enacting § 922(g)(9) to “keep[ ] guns out of the hands of
domestic abusers.” (ECF No. 37 at 4 (quoting United States
v. Hayes, 555 U.S. 415, 426 (2009)). However, because the
Court finds that the statute is unambiguous, “that meaning
is controlling.” United States v. Williams, 659 F.3d 1223,
1225 (9th Cir. 2011). Indeed, the Court “need not examine
legislative history as an aide to interpretation unless ‘the
legislative history clearly indicates that Congress meant
something other than what it said.’ ” Id. (quoting Carson
Harbor Vill., Ltd. v. Unocal Corp., 270 F.3d 863, 877 (9th
Cir.2001) (en banc)). But even if the Court were to consider
the legislative history, the Court is not persuaded that, as the
government argues, Congress meant for state law to include
local laws.

In considering the legislative history, the Court does not have
to start with a clean slate. The court in Enick engaged in
that exercise and found that “the legislative history strongly
suggests that Congress purposely excluded local law from
the list of predicate offenses.” Enick, 2017 WL 2531943, at
*2. The court reached this conclusion based on the following
observations: Congress amended § 921 in 2006 to include
tribal law to the list of substantive law the violation of
which constituted the predicate offense for § 922(g)(9) and
“[t]he same amendment also distinguished ‘local law’ in
dozens of other portions of § 921, but not § 921(a)(33)(A)
(i).” Id. The Court agrees with the Enick court’s reasoning.
The government cites to Black’s Law Dictionary’s definition
of “state law” at the time the two statutory provisions
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—§§ 922(9)(g) and 921(a)(33)—were enacted in 1996—
as including “ordinances of a city or town.” (ECF No. 37
at 3 (quoting State Law, BLACK’S LAW DICTIONARY
(6th ed. 1990).) However, this argument ignores the 2006
amendment. Moreover, this argument, as the Tenth Circuit
Court of Appeals observed in Pauler, “completely ignores the
fact that §§ 921 and 922 clearly and consistently differentiate
between states and municipalities and between state laws and
municipal ordinances.” Pauler, 857 F.3d at 1075.

“The Supreme Court has stated that ‘a legislature says in
a statute what it means and means in a statute what it
says there.” Benko v. Quality Loan Serv. Corp., 789 F.3d
1111, 1118 (9th Cir. 2015) (quoting Connecticut Nat’l Bank
v. Germain, 503 U.S. 249, 253–54 (1992). Here, Congress
meant state law when it says “State [ ] law”, not “state and
local laws” as the government argues.

Wagner’s misdemeanor conviction under the Reno Municipal
Code does not fall within section 921(a)(33)(A)(i) and

therefore does not qualify as a predicate offense to make
him a “prohibited person” under section 922(g)(9). The
Court therefore agrees with Wagner that Count Two in the
Superseding Indictment against him must be dismissed.

IV. CONCLUSION
The Court notes that the parties made several arguments and
cited to several cases not discussed above. The Court has
reviewed these arguments and cases and determines that they
do not warrant discussion as they do not affect the outcome
of Wagner’s motion.

It is therefore ordered that Defendant Andre Wagner’s Motion
to Dismiss (ECF No. 35) is granted.

All Citations

Not Reported in Fed. Supp., 2017 WL 4467544

End of Document © 2019 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works.
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ARTICLE I. - INCORPORATION OF CITY; GENERAL POWERS; BOUNDARIES; WARDS AND ANNEXATIONS; 
CITY OFFICES  

Section 1.010 - Preamble: Legislative intent.  

1.  In order to provide for the orderly government of the City of Henderson and the general welfare of its 
citizens the legislature hereby establishes this charter for the government of the City of Henderson. It 
is expressly declared as the intent of the legislature that all provisions of this charter be liberally 
construed to carry out the express purposes of the charter and that the specific mention of particular 
powers shall not be construed as limiting in any way the general powers necessary to carry out the 
purposes of the charter.  

2.  Any powers expressly granted by this charter are in addition to any powers granted to a city by the 
general law of this state. All provisions of Nevada Revised Statutes which are applicable generally to 
cities (not including, unless otherwise expressly mentioned in this charter, chapter 265, 266 or 267 of 
NRS) which are not in conflict with the provisions of this charter apply to the City of Henderson.  

3.  Except as otherwise expressly provided in a particular section or required by the context:  

(a)  The masculine gender includes the feminine and neuter genders.  

(b)  The singular number includes the plural number and the plural includes the singular.  

(c)  The present tense includes the future tense.  

The use of a masculine noun or pronoun in conferring a benefit or imposing a duty does not exclude a 
female person from that benefit or duty. The use of a feminine noun or pronoun in conferring a benefit or 
imposing a duty does not exclude a male person from that benefit or duty.  

(Ch. 266, Stats. 1971 p. 402; A—Ch. 596, Stats. 1995, p. 2205) 
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Assembly Committee on Judiciary 
April 23, 2015 
Page 30 
 
statewide consistency.  I am personally and particularly encouraged by the 
extension of the castle doctrine to an occupied vehicle.  I do a tremendous 
amount of traveling to and from the Nevada Legislature by myself, late at night.  
I am happy to have that part in the bill.   
 
There is one concern I have that has been mentioned with regard to the issue of 
domestic violence, which can include a fistfight between a couple of brothers.  
Perhaps it would be better defined as a gross misdemeanor where there are 
some definite issues involved.  There are some very minimal requirements for it 
to be labeled domestic violence, especially now with the domestic violence laws 
in place.  I am concerned about the far-reaching extent of that particular section 
of the bill.   
 
Chairman Hansen: 
I would like to hear from Legal to get the definition straightened out on what 
constitutes domestic violence.  I agree and that is the number-one area of 
concern that has been raised.  If we are taking away someone's constitutional 
right, we want to make sure it is for a reasonably serious crime.  Mr. Wilkinson, 
can you address the definition for the Committee?  
 
Brad Wilkinson, Committee Counsel: 
A misdemeanor crime of domestic violence is defined in federal law, and that 
definition is incorporated into the bill.  It is defined as an offense that is 
a misdemeanor under federal, state, or tribal law and has an element, the use or 
attempted use of physical force, or the threatened use of a deadly weapon, 
committed by a current or former spouse, parent, or guardian of the victim, by 
a person with whom the victim shares a child in common, by a person who is 
cohabiting with or has cohabited with the victim as a spouse, parent, or 
guardian, or by a person similarly situated to a spouse, parent, or guardian of 
the victim.  
 
Chairman Hansen: 
Did you say a weapon has to be involved?   
 
Brad Wilkinson: 
It says, "for use or attempted use of physical force."  It is not as broad 
a definition as our definition of domestic violence under Nevada law.   
 
Chairman Hansen: 
If this law passes as is, would the federal statute be used as the definition of 
domestic violence? 
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Assembly Committee on Judiciary 
April 23, 2015 
Page 31 
 
Brad Wilkinson: 
Yes, that is correct.  It incorporates the federal definition of misdemeanor crime 
of domestic violence.  It would not apply to a situation involving brothers, for 
example.  It also would not apply to a dating relationship, or those things that 
are more expansive in Nevada law than they are under the federal law.   
 
Senator Brower: 
In United States Code, Title 18, Section 921(a)(33)(B), it goes on to say that 
"(i) A person shall not be considered to have been convicted of such an offense 
for purposes of this chapter, unless—(I) the person was represented by counsel 
in the case, or knowingly and intelligently waived the right to counsel in the 
case; and (II) in the case of a prosecution for an offense described in this 
paragraph for which a person was entitled to a jury trial in the jurisdiction in 
which the case was tried, either (aa) the case was tried by a jury, or (bb) the 
person knowingly and intelligently waived the right to have the case tried by 
a jury, by guilty plea or otherwise."  Therefore, it is a pretty tight definition.  
That is why we chose it.   
 
Chairman Hansen: 
Is there anyone else in Las Vegas who would like to testify?  
 
Vernon Brooks, Private Citizen, Las Vegas, Nevada:  
I want to address a few points that came up in earlier conversations.  First, 
I would like to address some of the generically typical arguments that come up 
against a bill like this.  This bill does not change who can carry a firearm in 
Nevada.  I am certain that it will get asserted that it does, but it does not.  
I think it is fairly apparent from the language.  This bill will not harm convicted 
felons.  That is already covered under federal statute, and this does not change 
that.  What it does do is make the laws uniform across the state.  The original 
preemption bill passed in 2007 under a Democratic-controlled Legislature.  
It was a fairly good statute, but it was missing a few things.  This bill is more of 
a correction of that than anything else.   
 
The point has been raised of whether the penalties are necessary.  Anecdotally, 
I can point out examples of how this has been abused in the last few years.  
It is well known to those who carry firearms daily that the local jurisdictions 
have not fully adopted preemption as intended because nothing really forced 
them to.  They keep their invalid ordinances on the books.  The common 
consensus is because it allows for officers in the field to use what they know to 
be an invalid ordinance to further their investigation at that moment, and then 
throw it out later once something more useful is found.  That is a miscarriage of 
justice that I think everyone will uniformly agree on.   
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ORDD 
 

 
 

DISTRICT COURT 
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

 
 
CITY OF LAS VEGAS, 
 

Appellant(s), 
 

vs. 
 
CHRISTOPHER LEE ANDERSEN,  
 

Respondent(s). 
 

Case No.:    C-20-350740-A  
Dept. No.:   19 
 
LV Muni Case No.: C1135328A 
 
Hearing Date:    January 14, 2021 
Hearing Time:   9:00 a.m. 
 
 

   

 

ORDER DENYING RESPONDENT’S MOTION TO DISMISS, GRANTING 

THE APPEAL, REVERSING THE MUNICIPAL COURT’S RULING, AND 

REMANDING TO LOWER COURT 

 

BACKGROUND 

 The instant matter came before the Court as both Appellant’s Appeal from the Las 

Vegas Municipal Court, case no. C1135328A, and Respondent’s Motion to Dismiss for Lack 

of Jurisdiction et al.  

 On or around April 24, 2015, Respondent was arrested for Battery which Constituted 

Domestic Violence and simple Battery. Respondent filed a Demand for a Jury Trial with the 

Las Vegas Municipal Court, which was subsequently denied. Respondent then appealed the 

denial to the Nevada Supreme Court.  

 On September 12, 2019, the Nevada Supreme Court issued its decision on the matter; 

Anderson v. Eight Jud. Dist. Ct., 135 Nev. 321 (2019). In Andersen, the Court held that a first-

offense domestic battery was a serious offense to which right to jury trial attached. Id. at 324.   

The Court further issued a Writ of Mandamus directing the district court to vacate its dismissal 

of Respondent’s appeal and, ultimately, further remand the matter to the Municipal court for 

jury proceedings. Id.  

 On remand in the municipal court, Appellant advised of its intent to proceed with 

prosecution of Respondent, consistent with the Andersen decision. However, Respondent 
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objected and moved for dismissal, arguing that the municipal court lacked jurisdiction to 

comply with the Supreme Court’s ruling. The municipal court agreed. The court issued a 

ruling that it was bound by the constraints of NRS 266.550 (trials only by “summary and 

without a jury”) and, lacking a legal vehicle by which to transfer jurisdiction, must dismiss the 

case.   Appellant timely appealed, and Respondent’s filed its Motion to Dismiss. As 

Respondent’s motion addresses this Court’s authority to proceed on the matter, it shall be 

addressed first. 

 

DISCUSSION 

A. RESPONDENT’S MOTION TO DISMISS FOR LACK OF JURISDICTION 

 The right to appeal is statutory, and where no statute or court rule provides for such, 

no right to appeal exists. State v. Shade, 110 Nev. 57, 63 (1994). NRS 177.015(1)(a) 

authorizes a “party aggrieved in a criminal action …[w]hether that party is the State or the 

defendant” to appeal “to the district court of the county from a final judgment of the justice 

court.” See also Sandstrom v. Second Jud. Dist. Ct., 121 Nev. 657, 660-61 (2005). Further, in 

Sandstrom, the Nevada Supreme Court extended the provisions of NRS 177.015(1)(a) to 

include municipal courts. Id. at 62 (“[W]e conclude that the district courts are vested with 

jurisdiction to consider appeals from orders of the municipal courts granting motions to 

dismiss misdemeanor criminal complaints”).  

 In its arguments, Respondent asserts that NRS 177.015(2) controls in this matter and, 

as such, Appellant’s right to appeal is limited to grants of a motion to suppress. Further, 

Respondent argues that Appellant’s reliance on NRS 177.015(1) is misplaced, because the 

statute only permits appeals by the “the State or the defendant.” This Court disagrees. 

 The Court in Sandstrom, was clear that the controlling statute for misdemeanor 

criminal appeals is NRS 177.015(1)(a), not NRS 177.015(2). Moreover, that Court expressly 

carved out an extension to include misdemeanors originating from the municipal courts. 

Finally, despite Respondent’s literal reading of the statute, it is undisputed that the various 

subset governmental entities that are established—counties, cities, municipalities, and 
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townships—all receive their authority from, and act as agents of, their respective states. See 

generally NRS Titles 20-21; Las Vegas City Charter, sec. 1.010. Thus, Respondent’s 

arguments fail and its Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Jurisdiction is denied.  

 Having established that this Court does have jurisdiction to hear this matter, the Court 

now turns its attention to the merits of Appellant’s Appeal of the municipal court’s dismissal. 

B. APPELLANT’S APPEAL 

 An appellate court, as this Court functions for the justice and municipal courts, 

reviews questions of law de novo. S.O.C. v. Mirage Casino-Hotel, 117 Nev. 403, 407 (2001) 

(citing SIIS v. United Exposition Servs. Co., 109 Nev. 28, 30 (1993)); see also NRS 177.015; 

Sandstrom, 121 Nev. at 659 (district courts have “final appellate jurisdiction in cases arising in 

Justice Courts and such other inferior tribunals as may be established by law”). Conversely, 

factual determinations are “entitled to deference and will be reviewed for clear error.” Rosky 

v. State, 121 Nev. 184, 190 (2005). 

 Municipal courts have jurisdiction of all misdemeanors committed in their respective 

cities. NRS 5.050(2). Additionally, municipal courts, who are incorporated “under the 

provisions of special legislative acts,” are excluded from the “statutory prohibition against the 

holding of jury trials.” Blanton v. North Las Vegas Mun. Ct., 103 Nev. 623, 628 (1987); see 

Donahue v. City of Sparks, 111 Nev. 1281, 1282-83 (1995)(“[A]n incorporated city existing 

under a special charter [is] not subject to the statutory prohibition against jury trials in 

municipal courts”); see also NRS 266.005 (“the provisions of this chapter shall not be 

applicable to incorporated cities … existing under the provisions of any special legislative act 

or special charter”); but cf. NRS 266.550 (regarding municipal courts “[t]he trial and 

proceedings in such cases must be summary and without a jury”)(emphasis added).   

 In its papers and oral representations, Respondent argues that the municipal court lacks 

authority to conduct jury trials according to NRS 266.550. This Court rejects the argument as 

it does not take NRS 266.005 into consideration.  The City of Las Vegas is an incorporated 

city in the State of Nevada organized and existing under special charter.  The Court finds that 

the law is well established in the matter. The Blanton court’s holding that the statutory 
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prohibitions of NRS 266.550 do not apply to incorporated cities is directly applicable to the 

current matter. Blanton, 103 Nev. At 628.   Moreover, the fact that the City of Las Vegas 

Charter, has adopted NRS 266.550 does not exclude the Municipal Courts from conducting 

jury trials due to Las Vegas City Charter Sec 4.010.  The Charter adopts NRS 266.550 but 

only to the extent that it is “not inconsistent with this Charter”. The stated purpose of the 

Charter is to “provide for the orderly government of the City of Las Vegas and the public 

health, safety, prosperity, security, comfort, convenience and general welfare of its citizens.” 

Id. at Section 1.1010.  The inability of the Las Vegas Municipal Court to hear jury trials would 

interfere with the city’s police powers and undermine the its ability to protect victims of 

domestic violence within the city limits.  As such, NRS 266.550 is “inconsistent” with the 

purpose of the Charter and thus not applicable to the City of Las Vegas and its municipal 

courts. Additionally, the notion that a city would be granted the authority to charge battery-

domestic violence crimes as serious offenses requiring a jury trial, but lack the authority and 

ability to properly conduct said trials, is contrary to public policy. More specifically, it flies in 

the face of common sense. 

  Further, Respondent argues a procedural solution to this matter is already available in 

the legal mechanisms of NRS 5.0503. He asserts that the municipal court, upon the dismissal 

of the case, has the authority to simply transfer the matter to the justice court for a jury trial.  

 Respondent’s argument on transferring jurisdiction lacks merit.  NRS 5.0503(1)(b) 

does allow municipal courts to transfer criminal cases to justice court “if such a transfer is 

necessary to promote access to justice for the defendant…”.  The focus of the language is the 

defendant and the promotion of justice for that defendant. NRS 5.0503(1)(b) goes on to 

require that the municipal court “note[] its findings concerning [what made it necessary to 

transfer the case] in the record”.  This Court rejects the idea that having a regular policy of 

moving all battery domestic violence cases to justice court can possibly be the reason “a 

transfer is necessary to promote access to justice for the defendant”.  In fact, the opposite is 

true.  Such transfers will require time delays prolonging the defendants’ access to justice. 
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 Requiring municipal courts to transfer these cases, which will inevitably delay them in 

order to accommodate the transfer process, runs afoul of not only the one-year statute of 

limitations, but the defendants’ constitutional rights. Thus, viewed in totality—the Blanton 

case; NRS 266.005; NRS 266.550; the Las Vegas City Charter; public policy; and general 

common sense—this Court finds that the established law grants the municipal courts authority 

to hold jury trials and comply with the Andersen decision
1
. 

Accordingly, the Court ORDERS, ADJUDGES, AND DECREES that Respondent’s 

Motion to Dismiss is hereby DENIED. 

The Court FURTHER ORDERS that the above-captioned Appeal is hereby 

GRANTED. 

The Court FURTHER ORDERS that the ruling of the Las Vegas Municipal Court is 

hereby REVERSED. 

The Court FURTHER ORDERS this matter REMANDED to the lower court for 

proceedings consistent herewith. The bond, if any, to be returned to Appellant.   

IT IS SO ORDERED. 

 

 
 
                _____________________________________ 
                CRYSTAL ELLER 
      DISTRICT COURT JUDGE 
      C-20-350740-A 

 
      
 
 
 

                         
1
 The Court is aware of and acknowledges both the logistical and administrative challenges with 

physically facilitating jury trials in the municipal court, at this time. However, the Court declines to 

rule on that matter and addresses only the law as it stands.  
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Domestic Violence in 
NEVADA 

If you need help: 
Call The National Domestic Violence Hotline 1-800-799-SAFE (7233) 
Or, online go to TheHotline.org 

Suggested citation: National Coalition Against Domestic Violence (2020). Domestic violence in Nevada. Retrieved from www.ncadv.org/files/Nevada.pdf.  

 

 

WHAT IS DOMESTIC VIOLENCE? 
Domestic violence is the willful intimidation, physical assault, battery, sexual assault, and/or other abusive 
behavior as part of a systematic pattern of power and control perpetrated by one intimate partner against another. 
It includes physical violence, sexual violence, threats, and emotional abuse. The frequency and severity of 
domestic violence can vary dramatically. 
 
DOMESTIC VIOLENCE IN NEVADA 
• 43.8% of Nevada women and 32.8% of Nevada men experience intimate partner physical violence, intimate 

partner sexual violence and/or intimate partner stalking in their lifetimes.1 
• For many years, Nevada consistently ranked 1st in the nation for domestic violence fatalities.2 In 2017, 

Nevada ranked 4th in the rate of femicide.3 56% of these femicides were committed by intimate partners, and 
of these, 67% were killed with firearms.4 

• In 2019, Nevada domestic violence programs served 37,669 survivors.5 
• In 2019, law enforcement responded to at least 8,462 domestic violence incidents.6 Many others went 

unreported. 
• As of December 31, 2019, Nevada had submitted 3,220 domestic violence misdemeanor and 911 active 

protective order records to the NICS Index.7 
• In between 2015, there were 48 active protection orders in the National Crime Information Center for Nevada. 

39 protection orders had a disqualifying Brady Indicator.8 
 
DID YOU KNOW? 
• 1 in 3 women and 1 in 4 men in the United States have experienced some form of physical violence by an 

intimate partner.9 
• On a typical day, local domestic violence hotlines receive approximately 19,159 calls, approximately 13 calls 

every minute.10 
• In 2018, domestic violence accounted for 20% of all violent crime.11 
• Abusers’ access to firearms increases the risk of intimate partner femicide at least five-fold. When firearms 

have been used in the most severe abuse incident, the risk increases 41-fold.12 
• 65% of all murder-suicides involve an intimate partner; 96% of the victims of these crimes are female.13 
 
DOMESTIC VIOLENCE-RELATED FIREARMS LAWS IN NEVADA 
• Nevada state law prohibits domestic violence misdemeanants from possessing firearms, excluding dating 

partners.14 
• Respondents to final protective orders, including dating abusers, are prohibited from purchasing or acquiring 

firearms.15 
• Courts may prohibit respondents to final protective orders from possessing or owning firearms16 and/or require 

them to relinquish any firearms in their possession.17 
• Although courts are not explicitly authorized to prohibit respondents to ex parte protective orders from 

possessing firearms or to require them to relinquish their firearms, they are authorized to order whatever relief 
they deem necessary to protect victims and survivors, including dating partners.18 
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Domestic Violence in 
NEVADA 

If you need help: 
Call The National Domestic Violence Hotline 1-800-799-SAFE (7233) 
Or, online go to TheHotline.org 

Suggested citation: National Coalition Against Domestic Violence (2020). Domestic violence in Nevada. Retrieved from www.ncadv.org/files/Nevada.pdf.  

 

 

DOMESTIC VIOLENCE-RELATED FIREARMS LAWS IN NEVADA (Cont.) 
• Nevada requires background checks for most, but not all, firearms sales and transfers.19 
• Nevada can strengthen its laws to protect victims and survivors by 

o Prohibiting dating violence and stalking misdemeanants from possessing firearms; 
o Prohibiting respondents to ex parte and final protective orders from possessing firearms; 
o Requiring all persons prohibited due to domestic violence to surrender their firearms; 
o Requiring background checks for all gun sales and transfers; and 
o If requested by the survivor, requiring law enforcement to recover all firearms and ammunition when 

responding to domestic violence incidents. 
 
For more information about domestic violence and firearms in Nevada, go to 
https://www.disarmdv.org/state/nevada/.  

1 National Center for Injury Prevention and Control (2019). The national intimate partner and sexual violence survey: 2010-2012 State Report. Centers for 
Disease Control and Prevention. Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/violenceprevention/pdf/NISVS-StateReportBook.pdf. 
2 Powell, P. & Smith, M. (2011). Domestic violence: An overview. Retrieved from https://www.unce.unr.edu/publications/files/cy/2011/fs1176.pdf. 
3 Violence Policy Center (2019). When men murder women: An analysis of 2017 homicide data. Retrieved from http://www.vpc.org/studies/wmmw2019.pdf. 
4 Ibid. 
5 Nevada Network to End Domestic Violence (2020). NCESDV statewide data collection project: Reporting period: Calendar Year 2019 . Retrieved from 
https://www.ncedsv.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/2019-CY-yr-QSR.pdf. 
6 Ibid. 
7 Instant Criminal Background Check System Section (2020). Active records in the NICS index as of December 31, 2019. FBI Criminal Justice Information 
Services. Retrieved from https://www.fbi.gov/file-repository/active-records-in-the-nics-indices-by-state.pdf/view. 
8 United States Government Accountability Office (2016). Gun control: Analyzing available data could help improve background checks involving domestic 
violence records. Retrieved from https://www.gao.gov/assets/680/678204.pdf. 
9 Black, M.C., Basile, K.C., Breiding, M.J., Smith, S.G., Walters, M.L., Merrick, M.T., Chen, J., & Stevens, M. (2011). The national intimate partner and 
sexual violence survey: 2010 summary report. Retrieved from http://www.cdc.gov/violenceprevention/pdf/nisvs_report2010-a.pdf. 
10 National Network to End Domestic Violence (2020). 14th annual domestic violence counts report. Retrieved from https://nnedv.org/wp-
content/uploads/2020/03/Library_Census-2019_Report_web.pdf. 
11 Truman, J. & Morgan, R. (2014). Nonfatal domestic violence, 2003-2012. Retrieved from http://www.bjs.gov/content/pub/pdf/ndv0312.pdf. 
12 Campbell, J.C., Webster, D., Koziol-McLain, J., Block, C., Campbell, D., Curry, M. A., Gary, F., Glass, N., McFarlane, J., Sachs, C., Sharps, P., Ulrich, Y., 
Wilt, S., Manganello, J., Xu, X., Schollenberger, J., Frye, V., & Lauphon, K. (2003). Risk factors for femicide in abusive relationships: Results from a multisite 
case control study. American Journal of Public Health, 93(7), 1089-1097. 
13 Violence Policy Center (2018). American roulette: Murder-suicide in the United States. Retrieved from www.vpc.org/studies/amroul2018.pdf. 
14 Nev. Rev. Stat. § 202.360(1)(a). 
15 Nev. Rev. Stat. § 33.0305(1). 
16 Nev. Rev. Stat. §§ 202.360(1)(d); 33.031(1)(b). 
17 Nev. Rev. Stat. § 33.031(1)(a). 
18 Nev. Rev. Stat. § 33.030(1)(g); Nev. Rev. Stat. § 33.018(1). 
19 Nev. Rev. Stat. §§ 202.2547(1); 202.2548. 
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